Conditions Attached to Operations by Way of the Freedom of Establishment in

Latvia
A Member State credit institution intending to provide financial services in Latvia under the freedom of establishment must take account of the following essential provisions required by Latvian legislation:

I. Credit Institution Supervision

The authority responsible for supervising the banking and e-money business in Latvia is the Financial and Capital Market Commission. Its address is as follows:

Financial and Capital Market Commission 

Kungu ielā 1, Rīgā, LV -1050

Phone: +371 67774800

Mobile phone: +371 26515221

Fax: +371 67225755

E-mail: fktk@fktk.lv , single.passport@fktk.lv 

II. Administrative Procedure

According to the Commercial Law, a branch of a Member State credit institution has to be registered with the Latvian Register of Enterprises. The address and contact details of the Register of Enterprises are as follows:

The Register of Enterprises

Pērses ielā 2, Rīgā, LV - 1011

Phone: +371 67031703; +371 67031706

Fax: +371 67031793

E-mail: info@ur.gov.lv 

Official website: www.ur.gov.lv
III. Legislative Requirements

1. Credit Institution Legislation

1.1. Credit Institution Law (available on the official website of the Financial and

Capital Market Commission in English: www.fktk.lv ).
A Member State credit institution is entitled to engage in banking or e-money business in Latvia under the freedom of establishment, as laid down in Article 12.1, Paragraph 1, 2 and 3 of the Credit Institution Law.

Chapter V of the Credit Institution Law contains provisions pertaining to relationships between credit institutions and clients.

According to Article 60 of the aforementioned Law, relationships between a credit institution and a client shall be regulated by law and contracts that have been entered into.

Pursuant to Article 61, Paragraph 1, it is the duty of a credit institution to guarantee the confidentiality of the identity, accounts, deposits and transactions of clients.

Pursuant to Article 62, information regarding accounts of and transactions conducted by natural persons shall be provided to such persons themselves and to their lawful representatives.

Information regarding accounts of and bank operations (transactions) conducted by legal persons shall be provided to authorized representatives of such legal persons and to their superior institutions pursuant to the request of the heads of such institutions.

Information regarding a client, his or her accounts and transactions performed in accordance with a written agreement shall be provided to third persons if, in respect of such provision of information to third persons, the client has unequivocally consented with an agreement entered into with the credit institution.

Information regarding a client, his or her financial instrument accounts and money accounts, which are associated with financial instrument accounting, as well as regarding transactions performed with financial instruments included in regulated markets shall be provided to the organisers of regulated markets on the basis of their request if such information is necessary to the market organisers in order to ensure the performance of the supervision functions granted for the prevention of the utilisation of insider information and market manipulation.

Pursuant to Article 63, the confidential information at credit institution’s disposal shall be submitted to the following State institutions or officials in accordance with the procedures specified by law in cases:

1) the Financial and Capital Market Commission – for the exercise of the supervisory functions as specified by law;

2) the Office for the Prevention of Laundering Proceeds Derived from Criminal Activity in accordance with the procedures and to an extent as specified by the Law on the Prevention of Laundering of Proceeds Derived from Criminal Activity;

3) courts – within the framework of matters in adjudication on the basis of a ruling of a court (judge);

4) investigation authorities – within the framework of a pre-trial criminal procedure on the basis of a request of a head of an investigation institution, which is accepted by a judge of district (municipal) court;

5) a prosecutor’s office - within the framework of pre-trial criminal procedure on the basis of a request of a prosecutor which is accepted by a judge of district (municipal) court;

6) operative agents – within the framework of operative registration cases on the basis of a request of an operative agent, which is accepted by the chairman of the Supreme Court or his authorised judge of the Supreme Court;

7) the Corruption Prevention and Combating Bureau – in cases referred to in sub-paragraphs 4 and 6 of first paragraph of this Section, as well as on the basis of a request of the director or an authorised person, which is accepted by the chairman of the Supreme Court or a specially authorised judge of the Supreme Court; if the information is necessary to ensure the control over restrictions on non-cash provisions of State officials provided by the Law on Prevention of Conflict of Interests in Activities of State Officials and find out non-cash savings, income obtained, transactions performed by State officials or their obligation of demand; or in case the information is necessary to ensure the control over the norms specified by the Law on Financing Political Organizations (Parties), to clarify annual financial activities of political organisations and their unions, authenticity and legitimacy of financing and contributions (donations) received as stated by income declarations on expenditure of pre-election campaigns, election income and expenditure declaration;

8)  bailiffs – on the basis of a request with enclosed copy of the judgement of court or other institution, or a State official for execution of which official activities are taken; or on the basis of a request only – in cases when the information is necessary for drafting the inventory list as well as for a description of property for the purposes of the distribution of a joint property or an inheritance matter;

9) the State Treasury - on the basis of a request of the head or an authorised official in respect of accounts and transactions of budget-financed institutions;

10) the State Audit Office - on the basis of a request accepted by the Auditor General, in respect of legal persons which have the capacity to act with State or municipal property, or which are financed from State or municipal budgetary resources, or which provide State procurement and supply;

11) the State Revenue Service - on the basis of a request accepted by the Director General of the State Revenue Service or the Deputy Director pursuant to regulatory enactments of the Republic of Latvia and the European Union and international agreements on taxpayers approved by the Saeima (Parliament) of the Republic of Latvia, if:

  a) a taxpayer does not submit to the tax administration the declarations or tax calculations specified in the pertinent tax laws,

  b) during an audit of a taxpayer, violations in the accounting records or regulatory enactments regarding tax have been established, or

  c) a taxpayer does not make tax payments in compliance with the requirements of tax laws;

12) the State Revenue Service if a credit institution pays out income from provisions pursuant to first paragraph of Section 45 of the Law on Taxes and Fees or ensures paying of income from provisions in accordance of third paragraph of Section 45 of the mentioned Law;

13) a notary who carries on the inheritance matter, the information which is necessary for clarifying the bulk of inheritance of a legal person - testator.

With the exception of the case referred to in first paragraph, sub-paragraphs 1 and 12 of this Section, a State institution or official requires the necessary information in writing, titling the information precisely and specifying its amount as well as the justification of the request – relevant normative enactment, international agreement or the regulatory enactments of the European Union.

A credit institution immediately but not later than in 14 days shall submit the required information, if the procedure is observed as specified in first and second paragraphs of this Section. In the case referred to in sub-paragraph 12 of first paragraph of this Section, a credit institution shall provide information in accordance to the procedure and time limit as specified by the Law on Taxes and Fees.

Confidential information that is not to be divulged to a Member State or a foreign judicial and investigation institution shall be submitted by a credit institution as specified by agreements.

Control services for the prevention of laundering of proceeds derived from criminal activity or financing of terrorism of a Member State, except for Latvia, and a foreign country or a Latvian authority relevant to a credit institution supervisory authority shall provide information on the basis of a mutual cooperation agreement or an agreement of another kind. The relevant authority of the Republic of Latvia shall obtain the confidential information as specified by first and second paragraphs of this Section. This authority must verify that the protection is ensured against the divulging of the respective information before submitting information to a Member State or foreign authority.

A credit institution shall submit the confidential information at credit institution’s disposal to another credit institution, which is registered in the Republic of Latvia, a Member State or a foreign country and with which correspondent relations are established in accordance with the procedures specified by the Law on the Prevention of Laundering of Proceeds Derived from Criminal Activity.

In cases provided by law and international agreements ratified by the Saeima (Parliament), a credit institution has no right to inform a client or third person of the fact that the information concerning the client's account or his or her transaction (transactions) has been provided to a court or the Office of the Prosecutor in compliance with the requirements of Article 63 1, Paragraph one, of this Law.

Pursuant to Article 64, Paragraph 1, everyone who has, intentionally or unintentionally, made public or disclosed information regarding accounts of clients of a credit institution, or financial services provided to clients, to persons who do not have the right to receive the relevant information, if such information has been entrusted to or become known to him or her as owner of stocks or shares of the credit institution, as the chairperson, a member or a trustee of the supervisory board, the board of directors, the audit commission, as an employee of the credit institution, as an employee of the Bank of Latvia, the Financial and Capital Market Commission or a State institution, as a representative of sworn auditors, as the person referred to in Article 62, Paragraph 4 of this Law, shall be held criminally liable in accordance with the procedures specified by law.

Credit institutions shall ensure effective examination procedures for client complaints and disputes with the credit institution regarding the credit transfer of non-cash funds and transactions in electronic payment instruments. Full written information regarding the said complaint and dispute examination procedures shall be freely available at the credit institution and electronically on the home page of the credit institution in the Internet network if such home page has been established.

Pursuant to Article 1081, if the Financial and Capital Market Commission determines that a credit institution registered in a Member State providing financial services without opening a branch performs operations that are in contradiction with Latvian law, it shall, without delay, request that the Member State credit institution terminate such operations and, if the aforementioned credit institution does not discontinue operations that are in contradiction with Latvian law, the Financial and Capital Market Commission shall, without delay, inform the supervisory authority of the relevant Member State, the duty of which is to act so that the violations are rectified. If the credit institution continues to perform operations that are in contradiction with Latvian law, the Financial and Capital Market Commission shall inform the relevant Member State supervisory authority, and shall take measures to rectify such violations. The requirements of this Article shall not prevent the Financial and Capital Market Commission from performing activities to rectify violations that are in contradiction with Latvian laws safeguarding public interests and to apply penalties to such credit institutions.

The provisions of Article 1081 shall not hinder a credit institution that is registered in a Member State from disseminating advertising in Latvia regarding the financial services provided by the credit institution.

In accordance with Article 7 of the Law on the Financial and Capital Market Commission, the Financial and Capital Market Commission is entitled to request and receive information from credit institutions and to perform other activities permitted by regulatory enactments for the purpose of implementing the requirements specified by law.
1.2. Regulation on the Register of Debtors (available on the official website of the

Bank of Latvia in English: www.bank.lv ).

In accordance with Paragraph 2.1 of the Regulations on the Register of Debtors approved by the Bank of Latvia:

a Member State bank intending to provide financial services in Latvia under the freedom of establishment is obliged to submit to the Register of Debtors information pertaining to a borrower and a loan issued to the borrower in the event that:

1) the amount payable by the borrower under the relevant loan agreement is over 60 days overdue if the amount payable is at least L VL 100 or its equivalent in another foreign currency;

2) the borrower has failed to meet the requirements of Article 73 of the Credit Institution Law;

3) the borrower has committed infringements of the relevant loan agreement that the bank believes are significant (incl. where the bank has to sell the collateral to cover obligations, where the guarantor takes over the obligations, etc.).

Within the limits of the Register, the exchange of information takes place electronically.

In accordance with Paragraph 36, a bank is entitled to request from the Register information regarding their borrowers and persons who in compliance with the Credit Institution Law are deemed to be persons linked to the borrowers, and the information on persons who have submitted to the bank an application for a loan or persons who have submitted confirmation in writing of their preparedness to issue a guarantee on a loan.

In accordance with Paragraph 38, natural and legal persons are entitled to obtain from the Bank of Latvia information included in the Register pertinent to themselves.

The staff of the Bank of Latvia and the Financial and Capital Market Commission shall not disclose information contained in the Register, except for cases stipulated by the Republic of Latvia regulatory enactments. The Bank and its staff shall not divulge information obtained from the Register to third persons, except for persons to whom such information pertains.

2. Consumer Protection

Consumer Rights Protection Law (available on the official website of the Consumer Rights Protection Centre in English: www.ptac.gov.lv ).
The Consumer Rights Protection Law applies to all contracts concluded between consumers and service providers (credit institutions).

It should be particularly noted that pursuant to the Latvian Consumer Rights Protection Law, a consumer is a natural person who expresses a wish to use or uses a service for a purpose which is not directly related to his or her entrepreneurial activity.

Article 8 of this Law specifies requirements for consumer crediting. A consumer credit contract shall be entered into in writing, and the consumer shall be given one copy of such contract. The payment for goods or services shall be specified in monetary terms. It is prohibited to specify transferable securities as a means of settlement in a consumer credit contract.

A consumer has the right to perform his or her obligations prior to the time period specified in the consumer credit contract. In that event, the consumer has the right to fair reduction of the total cost of credit.

The information to be included in a consumer credit contract, the methods for calculation of the annual interest rate, and fair reduction of the total cost of credit shall be regulated by Cabinet Regulations.

In accordance with Article 8, Paragraphs 5 until 11 of the Consumer Right Protection Law, a credit service provider (credit institution) prior to granting a credit shall demand and receive from the State Revenue Service or a relevant foreign tax authority a statement on income of a consumer. The said statement is not required if a consumer is an official and the information regarding his/her income is publicly available. Also, a credit institution when documenting all the measures taken shall evaluate the consumer’s ability to repay a credit, taking into account above-mentioned documents. The credit institution shall ensure the period of document retention – one year after the performance of all obligations specified in the credit contract.

In case a credit has been granted for goods or service, a consumer shall obtain the said credit only after making a prepayment in the amount of 10 percent of the price for goods or service, except the cases when credit cards are used as means of payment.

The above conditions shall not apply to crediting transactions in financial instruments.

In case a credit is secured by a real estate, the amount of a credit provided to a consumer shall be not more than 90 percent of the real estate market value.

The above conditions shall not apply to credit contracts with foreign residents unless the credit object is a purchase or use of a real estate or some other property subject to registration with public registers of the Republic of Latvia.
The Consumer Rights Protection Centre supervises the legality of the use of contract conditions from the point of view of consumer protection. In accordance with Article 26 of this Law, consumers are entitled to submit complaints regarding violations of the requirements of this Law and other regulatory enactments pertaining to consumer rights protection, to the Consumer Rights Protection Centre.

3. Data Protection

Personal Data Protection Law (available on the official website of the Data State

Inspection in English: www.dvi.gov.lv ).

The Personal Data Protection Law applies to automatic processing of personal data where these data constitute, or will be used to constitute, a register of personal data or part thereof. The Law contains provisions pertaining to the general principles regulating personal data processing, processing of sensitive information and personal codes, rights of registered parties, data security and storage of data.

4. Parafiscal Charges

4.1. According to Article 22 of the Law on the Financial and Capital Market Commission, activities of the Financial and Capital Market Commission are financed from payments of financial and capital market participants made in amounts specified by the Board of the Financial and Capital Market Commission and not exceeding the amounts set by law.

Financial and capital market participants shall make the payments specified in Regulations of the Financial and Capital Market Commission on the Amount of Payments by Financial and Capital Market Participants for Financing the Financial and Capital Market Commission and the Procedures for Submitting Reports by the 30th of the month following the reporting quarter to the Financial and Capital Market Commission's Bank Account No. LV96 LACB 0000 0000 1185 1 with the Bank of Latvia, Code LACBLV2X, Taxpayer's Registration No. 90001049028. Payments should be made in lats (integer).
A branch of a Member State credit institution shall, by the 30th of the month following the reporting quarter, submit to the Commission a Report on the Calculation of Payments by Banks for Financing the Financial and Capital Market (Appendix 7 to the Regulations).

4.2. Law on Deposit Guarantees (available on the official website of the Financial and Capital Market Commission in English: www.fktk.lv ).
To protect the interests of depositors in case of liquidation or bankruptcy proceedings of the deposit taker, a Deposit Guarantee Fund shall be set up.

The provisions of this Law shall not apply to branches of the banks registered in European Union Member States in Latvia, if regulatory enactments of these States provide for guarantees on deposits attracted by providing financial services in a EU Member State under the freedom of establishment and cover all deposits provided for by this Law, moreover, the guaranteed consideration shall not be less than the minimum guaranteed consideration prescribed by European Community legal enactments. If the guaranteed consideration, however, is less than the minimum guaranteed consideration prescribed by European Community legal enactments, the branch of the Member State shall in accordance with Article 8, Paragraph two of the Deposit Guarantee Law make payments into the Deposit Guarantee Fund. Payments shall be effected in the amount of 0.05 percent of the average balance of guaranteed deposits held by the branch of the Member State in the preceding quarter. Payments should be made in lats (integer) via the settlement account held by the Financial and Capital Market Commission (Taxpayer registration No. 90001049028) with the Bank of Latvia (Code LACBLV2X): Bank Account No. LV 40LACB0000000022365.

According to the Financial and Capital Market Commission's Regulations on the Procedure for Making Payments into the Deposit Guarantee Fund, the branch of a Member State bank that makes payments into the Latvian Deposit Guarantee Fund shall prepare a Quarterly Report on Natural Person Deposits and the Calculation of Payments into the Deposit Guarantee Fund and submit it to the Financial and Capital Market Commission by the 20th of the month following the reporting quarter. The format of the report and the above regulations are available on the official website of the Financial and Capital Market Commission in English at www.fktk.lv. 

5. Taxes

Law on Taxes and Fees (available on the official website of the State Revenue Service

in English: www.vid.gov.lv ).
According to the Law, a Member State credit institution has to be registered with the State Revenue Service and is responsible for the payment of taxes according to the Latvian tax legislation.

6. Statistical information

Pursuant to the Paragraph 8 of the Regulations on Preparation of Public Quarterly reports for Credit Institutions a branch of a foreign bank shall publish the last public report available on the operations and performance indicators of the foreign bank whose branch it is, which shall be prepared in accordance with the regulatory enactments applicable to the country of domicile of the foreign bank. The branch of the foreign bank shall make this report available in the official language of the Republic of Latvia. 

Pursuant to Paragraph 6 of the Regulations on the Compliance of Credit Institutions with Liquidity Requirements, credit institutions (including foreign bank branches) shall prepare monthly reports on the term structure of assets and liabilities. The reporting form is available on the official web site of the Financial and Capital Market Commission: www.fktk.lv. 

Pursuant to Paragraph 8.1 of the Regulations for Assessing Assets and Off-balance sheet Liabilities, credit institutions (including foreign bank branches) shall prepare quarterly reports on the assessment of assets and off-balance-sheet liabilities. The reporting form is available on the official web site of the Financial and Capital Market Commission: www.fktk.lv. 

Pursuant to Paragraph 1.3 of the Regulations on the Preparation and Submission of information on Loan Portfolio Structure of Banks, credit institutions (including foreign bank branches) shall prepare information on loan portfolio structure of the bank.

Statistical reporting forms submitted to the Statistics Department, Bank of Latvia

Pursuant to Paragraph 1.3 and 18 of the Bank of Latvia's Provisions for the Preparation of Credit Institutions' Monthly Balance Statements and Supplements, credit institutions (including foreign bank branches) shall prepare monthly balance statements and supplements. The reporting forms are available on the official website of the Bank of Latvia: www.bank.lv. 

Pursuant to Paragraphs 2.1, 3 and 5 of the Bank of Latvia's Regulations for Compiling Reports on Adjustments in Respect of Write-offs/Write-downs of Loans and Price Revaluations of Securities, credit institutions (including foreign bank branches) shall prepare reports on adjustments in respect of write-offs/write-downs of loans and price revaluations of securities on a monthly basis. The reporting forms are available on the official website of the Bank of Latvia: www.bank.lv. 

Pursuant to Paragraphs 1.4 and 6 of the Bank of Latvia's Regulations for Compiling Interest Rate Reports of Credit Institutions, banks, foreign bank branches and credit unions shall prepare interest rate reports on new business and outstanding amounts on a monthly basis. The reporting forms are available on the official website of the Bank of Latvia: www.bank.lv. 

Pursuant to Paragraphs 1.3 and 4 of the Bank of Latvia's Regulations for Compiling Reports on Money Market Transactions, credit institutions (including foreign bank branches) shall prepare reports on money market transactions on a weekly basis. The reporting forms are available on the official website of the Bank of Latvia: www.bank.lv. 

Pursuant to the Executive Board's of the Bank of Latvia Resolution on Reports on Transactions with Republic of Latvia Treasury Bonds in the Secondary Market for Securities, credit institutions (including foreign bank branches) shall prepare a report on the Republic of Latvia Treasury Bills on a monthly basis. The reporting forms are available on the official website of the Bank of Latvia: www.bank.lv. 

Pursuant to the Executive Board's of the Bank of Latvia Resolution on Reports on Transactions with Republic of Latvia Treasury Bills in the Secondary Market for Securities and Report on Republic of Latvia Treasury Bills, credit institutions (including foreign bank branches) shall prepare a report on the Republic of Latvia Treasury Bills on a monthly basis. The reporting forms are available on the official website of the Bank of Latvia: www.bank.lv
Pursuant to the Executive Board's of the Bank of Latvia Resolution No.259/8 of 24 April 1997, On Reports on Buying and Selling of Foreign Currency, credit institutions (including foreign bank branches) shall prepare a report on buying and selling of foreign currency. The reporting forms are available on the official website of the Bank of Latvia: www.bank.lv.

Pursuant to Paragraphs 1.3 and 5 of the Bank of Latvia's Regulations for Compiling Reports and Projections on Long- Term Foreign Loans by Credit Institutions, credit institutions (including foreign bank branches) shall prepare reports and projections on long-term foreign loans on a quarterly basis. The reporting forms are available on the official website of the Bank of Latvia: www.bank.lv. 

Pursuant to Paragraph 2 of the Bank of Latvia's Regulations for Compiling Credit Institution Payment Statistics Report, credit institutions (including foreign bank branches)

shall prepare a payment statistics report in compliance with the form given in Appendix I of the Regulations on a biannual basis. The reporting form is available on the official web site of the Bank of Latvia: www.bank.lv. 

In accordance with the Revised Regulations for Preparing Information on External Payments of Non-banks, domestic banks shall compile information on incoming and outgoing external payments of non-banks in accordance with form UPDK 0620108 (Report on External Payments of Non-Banks). A domestic bank means a bank or a branch of a foreign bank registered in the Republic of Latvia. The reporting form is available on the official website of the Bank of Latvia: www.bank.lv. 

Pursuant to Paragraph 2 of the Regulations for Compiling the Monthly Report of Holders of Securities, credit institutions (including foreign bank branches) shall compile the Report on a monthly basis according to the form UPDK 0620566. The reporting form is available on the official website of the Bank of Latvia: www.bank.lv.

In accordance with the Regulations for Calculating and Fulfilling the Minimum Reserve Requirements for Banks, credit institutions (including foreign bank branches) shall compile the report in compliance with the form given in Appendix I of the Regulations. The reporting form is available on the official website of the Bank of Latvia: www.bank.lv.

In accordance with the Regulations for Compiling the Report on Net Open Foreign Exchange Position, credit institutions shall compile the report on foreign exchange position in compliance with the form available on the official website of the Bank of Latvia: www.bank.lv.

7. Other Provisions

Furthermore, the Financial and Capital Market Commission would like to draw your

attention to the following general legislation:

· The Law on the Financial Instruments Market;

· The Civil Law;

· The Competition Law; and

· The Law on Advertising.

Apart from that, we would like to note that banks exercising the freedom of establishment in Latvia have to follow other requirements that have not been referred to above, but are provided for in the Latvian legislation applicable to branches of Member State credit institutions in Latvia.
